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JUDICIAL DISTRICT

PLAINTIFF'S ORIGINAL PETITION
TO THE HONORABLE JUDGE OF SAID COURT:
The Attorney General of Texas, Ken Paxton, bringing suit in the name of the ST A TE OF
TEXAS ("Plaintiff') through his Consumer Protection Division, complains of VICKERYYOUNG & ASSOCIATES LLC, JAMIE W. VICKERY, AMBER VICKERY, THOMAS
CHRISTOPHER YOUNG, STEPHANIE RENEE YOUNG and VICKERY ENTERPRIS ES, INC.
(collectively "Defendants") and for cause of action would respectfully show the Court the
following:

I.
DISCOVERY CONTROL PLAN
1.1

The discovery in this case is intended to be conducted under Level 3 pursuant to

Texas Rule of Civil Procedure 190.4.
1.2

This case is not subject to the restrictions of expedited discovery under Texas Rule

of Civil Procedure 169 because the relief sought by Plaintiff includes non-monetary injunctive
relief.
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n.
DEFENDANTS AND SERVICE

2.1

Defendant, VICKERY-YOUNG & ASSOCIATES LLC, is a limited liability

company formed in Kentucky, with a principal office at 101 State Ave, Suite D, Glasgow, KY
42141. Because the parties have agreed to settle this matter subject to the Courfs approval , no
service is necessary at thi s time.
2.2

Defendant, JAMIE W. VICKERY, is an individual residing at 809 B Denzil Ave,

Bowling Green, KY 42 I 04.

Because the parties have agreed to settle this matter subject to the

Court's approval , no service is necessary at this time.
2.3

Defendant, AMBER VICKERY, is an individual residing at 809 B Denzil Ave,

Bowling Green, KY 42104.

Because the parties have agreed to settle this matter subject to the

Court' s approval , no service is necessary at this time.
2.4

Defendant, THOMAS CHRISTOPHER YOUNG, is an individual residing at 45

Turner Road, Gamaliel, KY 42140.

Because the parties have agreed to settle this matter subject

to the Court' s approval, no service is necessary at this time.
2.5

Defendant, STEPHANIE REN EE YOUNG, is an individual residing at 45 Turner

Road, Gamaliel, KY 42140.

Because the parties have agreed to settle this matter subject to the

Court' s approval, no service is necessary at this time.
2.6

Defendant, VICKERY ENTERPRIS ES, INC. , is a foreign corporation formed

under the laws of Kentucky. Because the parties have agreed to settle this matter subject to the
Court' s approval , no service is necessary at this time.
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III.
JURISDICTION
3.1

T his police and regulatory power action is brought by Attorney General Ken Paxton,

through his Consumer Protection Division, in the name of the State of Texas and in the public
interest under the authority granted to him by § 17.4 7 of the Texas Deceptive Trade Practices Consumer Protection Act 1 (the "DTPA") and § 304.252 of the Texas Telemarketing Disclosure
and Privacy Act. 2
3.2

At all times relevant to this cause, Defendants have engaged in and done business

in Texas by soliciting Texas consumers to enter into contracts for investment recovery services
and by offering such services to Texas consumers.
3.3

Accordingly, this Court has subject matter jurisdiction to adjudge this controversy

and personal jurisdiction over the parties.

IV.
VENUE
4.1

Pursuant to § 17.4 7(b) of the DTPA, venue for this suit is proper in a state district

court of Travis County because the Defendants have done business in Travis County and many of
the transactions which form the basis for this suit occurred in Travis County.

V.
PUBLIC INTEREST
5.1

This action is in the public interest because Plaintiff has reason to believe that

Defendants have engaged in, and will continue to engage in, the unlawful practices set forth below,
have caused and will cause adverse effects to legitimate business enterprises which lawfully

1

T EX . Bus. & COM. CODE § 17.41 et seq.

2 TEX . Bus. & COM . CODE § 304.00 I et seq.

State of Texas v. Vickery- Young & Associates LLC et al.
PlaintifPs Original Petition

Copy from re:SearchTX

Page 3

conduct trade and commerce in this State, and will cause damage to the State of Texas and its
residents from whom monies or properties were unlawfully acquired by Defendants.
VI.
TRADE AND COMMERCE

6.1

Defendants have engaged in "trade" and "commerce" as those terms are defined by

§ 17.45(6) of the DTPA.
VII.

ACTS OF AGENTS
7.1

Whenever in this Petition it is alleged that any Defendant did any act, it is meant

that:
a.

Defendant performed or participated in the act; or

b.

Defendant's agents, employees or representatives performed or participated
in the act on behalf of and under the authority of Defendant.
VIII.

CONDITIONS PRECEDENT
8.1

Plaintiff has met all conditions precedent for bringing this action. Plaintiff has

provided pre-suit notice to Defendants as required by§ 17.47(a) of the DTPA.
IX.

NATURE OF DEFENDANTS' BUSINESS
9 .1

Defendants have been in the business of soliciting and offering investment recovery

services to consumers throughout the United States and including Texas.
X.
ADDITIONAL FACT ALL EGA TIO NS

10.1

Defendants Vickery-Young & Associates LLC ("Vickery-Young") and Vickery

Enterprises, Inc. have been companies that have offered investment recovery services to
consumers throughout the United States and including Texas.
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continuing thereafter, Jamie W. Vickery, Defendant, initially by and through the assistance of
Defendant Vickery Enterprises, Inc. and Defendant Amber Vickery, and later as Defendant
Vickery-Young with the assistance of Defendants Amber Vickery, Thomas Christopher Young
and Stephanie Renee Young, has engaged in a deceptive telemarketing program by which
Defendants and their contracted telemarketers make unsolicited telephone calls to consumers
throughout the United States to deceptively induce them to purchase Defendants ' investment
recovery services. Vickery-Young and Vickery Enterprises, Inc. advertised that they could help
consumers recover money previously lost to fraudulent or bad investments.

Many of the

consumers contacted by Vickery-Young and Vickery Enterprises, Inc. have previously suffered
monetary losses ranging from tens of thousands to hundreds of thousands of dollars, primarily in
oil and gas investments. Vickery Enterprises, Inc. was incorporated initially in Tennessee in 2014
and , after dissolving, it was subsequently re-incorporated in Kentucky in 2016. Sometime in 2017,
Vickery Enterprises, Inc. appears to have ceased operations. In 2017, Jamie W. Vickery and
Amber Vickery formed Vickery-Young for the purpose of continuing the same telemarketing and
recovery assistance services scheme.
10.2

Jamie W. Vickery is president of Vickery-Young and its pnmary salesman.

Defendant Thomas Christopher Young is an officer of Vickery-Young and makes telemarketing
calls to new customers. Defendant Stephanie Renee Young and Amber Vickery are also officers
of Vickery-Young and assist with its operations.

During telemarketing calls, Defendants '

representatives tell consumers they specialize in recovering investments lost due to securities law
violations or criminal fraud. Defendants misrepresent a high success rate in both the recovery of
money and the criminal prosecution of alleged fraudsters.
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10.3

Defendants, in the course of soliciting Texas consumers for their investment

recovery services, have also made telemarketing calls to telephone numbers published on the
Texas no-call list more than 60 days after the date the telephone numbers appeared on the current
list.
10.4

Defendants, who are not attorneys or law firms, tell consumers that, for a non-

refundable upfront fee, Vickery Enterprises or Vickery-Young will compile a research report
specific to each consumer's investment, including a background of the company and its principals,
a summary of applicable laws and regulations, and an analysis of whether violations of law
occurred. Defendants also tell consumers that the research repo11 will be sent to government
authorities to aid in a civil enforcement action or criminal prosecution of the alleged investment
fraudsters. The amount of the upfront research report fee depends on the number of companies
being researched for the consumer and the amount of the consumer' s lost investment(s).
10.5

In reality, the research report that Defendants produce contains little if any

individualized information, and mainly consists of generic descriptions of securities law and
alleged violations of law.

Despite Defendants' representations concerning the usefulness or

importance of the research report, it is generally not relied upon by government agencies for their
enforcement actions. Moreover, in some cases, the company about whom the report is provided
has already been prosecuted.
10.6

The nonrefundable upfront research fee charged by Defendants is in actuality a

disguised upfront fee for recovery services prohibited by the Federal Trade Commission ' s
Telemarketing Sales Rule ("the TSR").

The TSR prohibits sellers and telemarketers from

misrepresenting, directly or indirectly, any material aspect of the performance, efficacy, nature or
characteristics of the goods or services that are the subject of the sales offer. See 16 C.F. R. §
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31 0(a)(2)(iii). The TSR further states that is an abusive telemarketing act or practice, and a
violation of the TSR, for any seller or telemarketer to request or receive payment of an y fee to
recover or otherwise assist a consumer in the return of money paid for by, or promised to, the
consumer until seven business days after such money is delivered to the consumer. See 16 C.F.R.
§ 3 10.4(a)(3). Defendants have not recovered money for consumers and have repeatedly violated
the TSR.
XI.
VIOLATIONS OF THE TEXAS DECEPTIVE TRADE PRACTICES ACT
11.1

Plaintiff incorporates and adopts by reference in this section the allegations

contained in each and every preceding paragraph of this petition.
11.2

Defendants, as alleged above, have in the course of trade and commerce engaged

in false, misleading and deceptive acts and practices declared to be unlawful under § 17.46(a) of
the DTPA.
11.3

Defendants, as alleged above, have in course of trade and commerce vio lated §

17.46(b)(2) of the DTPA by causing confusion or misunderstanding as to the source, sponsorship,
approval , or certification of services.
11.4

Defendants, as alleged above, have in the course of trade and commerce violated §

17.46(b)(3) of the DTPA by causing confusion or misunderstanding as to affiliation , connection,
or association with, or certification by, another.
11.5

Defendants, as alleged above, have in the course of trade and commerce violated §

17.46(b)( 5) of the DTP A by representing that services have sponsorship, approval , characteristics,
ingredients, uses, benefits, or quantities which they do not have or that a person has a sponsorship,
approval, status, affiliation, or connection which they do not have.
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11.6

Defendants, as alleged above, have in the course of trade and commerce violated§

17.46(6)(7) of the DTPA by representing that services are of a particular standard or quality, when
they are of another.
11.7

Defendants, as alleged above, have in the course of trade and commerce violated§

17.46(6)(9) of the DTPA by advertising services with intent not to sell them as advertised.
11.8

Defendants, as alleged above, have in the course of trade and commerce violated §

17.46(6)(12) of the DTPA by representing that an agreement confers or involves rights, remedies,
or obligations which it does not have or involve, or which are prohibited by law, including but not
limited to representing that their basic fee agreement with consumers has rights or obligations
which are, in fact, prohibited by the TSR.
11.9

Defendants, as alleged above, have in the course of trade and commerce violated§

17.46(6)(24) of the DTP A by failing to disclose information concerning goods or services which
was known at the time of the transaction when such failure to disclose such information was
intended to induce the consumer into a transaction into which the consumer would not have entered
had the information been disclosed.

XII.
VIOLATIONS OF THE TEXAS TELEMARKETING DISCLOSURE
AND PRIVACY ACT

12.1

Plaintiff incorporates and adopts by reference in this section the allegations

contained in each and every preceding paragraph of this petition.
12.2

Defendants, as alleged above, have violated § 304.052 of the Texas Business and

Commerce Code by making telemarketing calls to a telephone number published on the Texas nocall list more than 60 days after the date the telephone number appears on the current list.
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XIII.
REQ UEST FOR PERMANENT INJUNCTION
13.1

Plaintiff incorporates and adopts by reference in this section the allegations

contained in each and every preceding paragraph of this petition.
13.2

As alleged above, Defendant has repeatedly violated the DTPA as to numerous

Texas consumers. Defendant may continue to violate the DTPA unless permanently restrained by
this Court. The entry of such injunction is in the public interest.

13.3

Plaintiff, exercising its police and regulatory power, and in the public interest, prays

that Defendants be cited according to law to appear and answer herein, that after notice of hearing
to Defendants that the Court issue, upon final hearing, a PERMANENT INJUNCTION ,
permanently restraining and enjoining Defendants, their employees, officers and attorneys, and all
other persons acting in concert with any such individuals who receive actual notice of the
injunction by personal service or otherwise, from engaging in any of the following acts or
practices:
A) offering, soliciting, providing, assisting in or engaging in any recovery services in any
capacity for five (5) years from the effective date of the final judgment entered in this
cause, except this provision shall not apply to Defendants ' outside counsel ;
B) soliciting, requesting, or accepting upfront or advance fees for recovery services in any

capacity, except this provision shall not apply to Defendants ' outside counsel ;
C) violating any state or federal telemarketing sales laws, including but not limited to the
DTPA and the FTC Telemarketing Sales Rule set forth in § 310.3, 310.4 and/or 310.5
of 16 C.F.R. Part 310;
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D) violating any state or federal do-not-call laws, including but not limited to Chapter 304
of the Texas Business & Commerce Code and 47 U.S.C. § 227;
E) making, causing others to make, or assisting others in making any telemarketing call to
a person in Texas until after such time that Defendants have purchased and downloaded
the then-current Texas No-Call List and Federal No-Call List;
F) making, causing others to make, or assisting others in making any telemarketing call to
any telephone number that has been published more than thirty-one (31) days on the
then-cmTent Texas No-Call List or then-cun-ent Federal No-Call List;
G) making, causing others to make, or assisting others in making any telemarketing call to
a person that has expressed to any Defendant or Defendant' s agent the person·s desire
not to receive telemarketing calls;
H) making, causing others to make, or assisting others in making any telemarketing call

using an artificial or prerecorded voice to deliver a message ;
I) making, causing others to make, or assisting others in making any telemarketing call
without disclosing truthfully, promptly, and in a clear and conspicuous manner, the
following information:
(i)

the identity of the individual caller and the company on whose behalf the
call is being made;

(ii)

That the purpose of the call is to sell or lease property, goods, or services,
if true;

(iii)

The nature of the property, goods, or services being offered; and

(iv)

A telephone number, address, or website at which such individual caller and
company can be contacted;
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J) taking any steps to block or otherwise prevent the transmission of any Defendant's true
and correct identity and telephone number to any caller identification service or other
device designed to identify a telephone caller;
K) taking any steps to interfere with or circumvent the capability of a caller identification
service or device to access or provide to the recipient of a telemarketing call any
information regarding the call that the service or device is capable of providing;
L) misrepresenting, directly or indirectly, the entity that is making any telephone call ,
including but not limited to using any false caller ID information or using an y
unregistered business name;
M) advertising, soliciting, contracting or conducting business as Vickery-Young &
Associates, Vickery-Young & Associates LLC, Vickery Enterprises or Vickery
Enterprises, Inc., including but not limited to advertising, offering or providing any
goods or services as any such businesses or under any such business names ; and
N) maintaining a website or any social media presence for Vickery-Young & Associates
LLC, Vickery-Young & Associates, Vickery Enterprises or Vickery Enterprises, Inc.
XIV.
MONET ARY RELIEF REQUESTED

14.1

Plaintiff requests that the Court award to the State restitution for identifiable

persons pursuant to§ 17.47(d) of the DTPA to restore money which may have been acquired by
means of any unlawful act or practice restrained or enjoined.
14. 2

Plaintiff requests that the Court award the State civil penalties of up to $ I 0,000 for

each Defendant' s violation of the DTPA pursuant to§ 17.47(c) of the DTPA
14.3

Plaintiff requests that the Court award to the State its reasonable attorney ' s fees

and court costs.
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xv.
CONCLUSION AND PRAYER
15.1

Plaintiff prays that upon final hearing this Court will sign and enter a final judgment

and permanent injunction against Defendants which:
a.

Finds that the Defendant violated§ 17.46 the DTPA;

b.

Permanently restrains and enjoins Defendants and their employees, officers,
and attorneys, and other persons acting in concert with such individuals,
from engaging in any of the conduct sought to be restrained or enjoined as
specified in Section XIII of this Petition;

c.

Awards the State restitution for identifiable persons pursuant to § 17.4 7(d)
of the DTPA to restore money which may have been acquired by means of
any unlawful act or practice restrained or enjoined ;

d.

Awards the State civil penalties ofup to $10,000 per violation of the DTPA
pursuant to§ 17.47(c) of the DTPA;

e.

Awards the State its reasonable attorneys ' fees and court costs; and

f.

Grants other relief to which Plaintiff may be justly entitled.

Respectfull y submitted,
KEN PAXTON
Attorney General of Texas
JEFFREY C. MA TEER
First Assistant Attorney General
DARREN L. MCCARTY
Deputy Attorney General for Civi l Litigation
JENNIFER S. JACKSON
Division Chief, Consumer Protection Division
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Office o he Attorney General of Texas
Co
mer Protection Division
-.)-oo West 15 th Street, Floor 9
Austin, Texas 78701
Telephone: (512) 463 -1264
Facsimile: (512) 473-8301
Email: james.wenze l0 >,oag.texas.gov
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